A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The State of Washington, Petitioner here and 

Respondent below, respectfully asks this Court to review 

the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals in State 

v. Stearns, No. 82125-3-I (February 3, 2025).  The slip 

opinion (“Slip op.”) is attached.  Appendix. 

 

B. INTRODUCTION 

John Ray Stearns raped and beat Crystal Williams 

to death and left her near-naked body in the mud outside 

a public restroom in 1998.  Several years later, DNA from 

sperm found in Williams’ body connected Stearns to the 

crime.  Stearns was already serving a 60-year exceptional 

sentence after pleading guilty to the brutal physical and 

sexual assault of another woman in the same Seattle 

neighborhood, where he had also committed at least two 

other prior violent sexual assaults. 
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A jury convicted Stearns of first-degree murder in 

Williams’ slaying, but the Court of Appeals reversed the 

conviction and dismissed the charge based on pre-

charging delay.  This Court unanimously reversed that 

decision.  On remand for consideration of Stearns’ 

remaining appellate claims, the Court of Appeals again 

reversed his conviction, this time concluding that the trial 

court erred in admitting evidence under ER 404(b). 

In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeals  

(1) ignored binding decisions from this Court on ER 

404(b) by erroneously distinguishing cases where the 

victims were children instead of adults; (2) misapplied a 

de novo standard of review rather than applying the 

proper abuse-of-discretion standard for evidentiary 

rulings; and (3) ignored the proper standard of review by 

substituting its own judgment for that of the trial court 

rather than affording the deference required.  In addition, 

in support of its erroneous reasoning, the Court of 
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Appeals endorsed and relied upon a fallacy that most 

sexual assaults involve physical violence, criticized a 

prosecutor for consulting with appellate-unit colleagues 

about ER 404(b), and chastised the trial court for 

observing that jurors in King County tend to be careful 

and follow limiting instructions for ER 404(b) evidence. 

Once again, the State asks this Court to grant 

review in this case. 

 

C. STANDARD FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW 

“A petition for review will be accepted by the 

Supreme Court only:  (1) If the decision of the Court of 

Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme 

Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 

conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or 

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution 

of the State of Washington or of the United States is 

involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of 
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substantial public interest that should be determined by 

the Supreme Court.”  RAP 13.4(b). 

The Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with this 

Court’s precedent in myriad ways.  Therefore, review 

should be granted in accordance with RAP 13.4(b)(1). 

 

D. ISSUES PRESENTED 

 1. Should this Court grant review because the 

Court of Appeals expressly disregarded this Court’s 

precedent? 

 2. Should this Court grant review because the 

Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard of review for 

this evidentiary issue? 

 3. Should this Court grant review because the 

Court of Appeals disregarded the deferential abuse-of-

discretion standard and substituted its own judgment for 

that of the trial court? 
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 4. Should this Court grant review because the 

Court of Appeals based its decision on demonstrably 

fallacious assumptions about rape and portions of the 

record that do not support reversal? 

 

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Crystal Williams’ partially nude body was found 

lying in the mud next to a public restroom in Lavizzo Park 

in the Central Area of Seattle in 1998.  2RP 1493, 1501, 

1516-17.1  Her face was bloody, and she had obvious 

injuries on her face and head.  2RP 1516, 1625.  The 

park employees who found her body notified a security 

guard at the nearby Odessa Brown clinic, who then called 

911.  2RP 1493, 1517. 

 
1 “2RP” refers to the 2,409-page collection of 17 
sequentially paginated volumes of transcript reported live 
by Kimberly H. Girgus. 
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The medical examiner found that Williams had a 

fractured skull, a subdural hematoma, bruises and cuts on 

her face and head, bruises on her neck, and burst blood 

vessels around her eyes that indicated she had been 

asphyxiated.  2RP 2269.  She had semen in her vagina 

that was so fresh the sperm cells still had tails.  2RP 

2293-95.  She had no defensive wounds, which indicated 

she was quickly incapacitated by the blow to her head 

before she was raped.  2RP 2294, 2298, 2308-09.  

Williams’ coat pocket was turned inside-out, suggesting 

she had been robbed.  2RP 1625. 

In 2004, the DNA profile developed from the sperm 

in Williams’ body was matched to Stearns; the chances 

that a random individual other than Stearns was the 

source of that DNA was one in 33 quadrillion.  2RP 2084. 

In addition to evidence directly related to Williams’ 

rape and murder, the State offered evidence, under ER 

404(b), of three previous, violent sexual assaults Stearns 
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committed in the same neighborhood, all within close 

proximity to his home, in 1981, 1989, and 1999.  There 

was no question that Stearns had committed these acts 

— he pleaded guilty in two of the cases and was 

convicted at trial in the third.  CP 589-742.  The State’s 

briefing and offer of proof in the trial court described these 

three incidents as follows: 

In 1981, Stearns tricked a woman, B.G., into letting 

him into her Central Area apartment by saying someone 

was following him, then struck her over the head with a 

whiskey bottle, strangled her, and vaginally raped her 

before leaving with her television.  CP 593.  Fortunately, 

B.G. survived.  CP 593.  Stearns pleaded guilty to 

second-degree rape.  CP 593. 

In 1989, while on parole for raping B.G., Stearns ran 

up behind a woman in a Central Area street, struck her in 

the head, grabbed her hair, grabbed her by the neck, and 

knocked her to the ground.  CP 595.  Stearns forced the 
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woman, D.H., to a nearby park where he strangled her, 

beat her, and tried to penetrate her vagina with his 

fingers.  CP 595.  Stearns also took some of her personal 

property.  CP 663.  The attack was fortunately interrupted 

by Stearns’ own brother.  CP 595.  D.H. had injuries to 

her head and an abrasion around her neck from the 

attack.  CP 595.  Stearns was convicted at trial of 

attempted second-degree rape and first-degree robbery.  

CP 595. 

In 1999, Stearns went into a Central Area 

convenience store and attacked the proprietor, Y.C., by 

beating her in the head with a soda can and slashing her 

face with a box cutter.  CP 597.  Stearns dragged Y.C. to 

the back room, continued to beat her, and raped her 

vaginally.  CP 597.  Y.C. lost consciousness during the 

attack.  CP 597, 739.  In addition to beating and raping 

Y.C., Stearns stole lottery tickets and cash.  CP 597.  To 

avoid a conviction for a third “strike” as a persistent 
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offender, Stearns pleaded guilty to six non-strike felonies 

and agreed to an exceptional sentence of 720 months in 

prison.  CP 693-713, 737-41.  Stearns was serving that 

sentence when the DNA results linked him to Williams’ 

murder.  2RP 1925-26. 

The State’s trial-court brief included a chart 

illustrating the concurrence of common features between 

Stearns’ prior crimes and the Williams murder, and a map 

showing how close to Stearns’ home each crime was 

committed: 
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CP 615-17. 

After considering the briefing and arguments of 

counsel, the trial court admitted evidence of Stearns’ 

1981 attack of B.G. and his 1989 attack of D.H., but 

excluded the 1999 attack of Y.C., the shop owner.  2RP 

150-52.  The court admitted evidence of those two prior 

incidents for two non-propensity purposes under ER 

404(b):  (1) as evidence of a common scheme or plan, 
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and (2) as proof of the element of forcible compulsion for 

felony murder based on rape2 (Stearns’ defense claimed 

the sex with Williams was consensual).  2RP 150-52, 

2157, 2182-83.  The trial court found a sufficient 

concurrence of similar facts and circumstances between 

the crimes committed against B.G. and D.H. and the 

allegedly sexually-motivated murder of Williams to meet 

the standards for admissibility for both purposes.  2RP 

145-51.  On the other hand, the trial court excluded 

Stearns’ attack of Y.C. because, in the trial court’s view, 

Stearns’ motivation for that attack was primarily robbery 

rather than sexual assault, and because that crime post-

dated Williams’ murder.  2RP 151-52. 

The trial court found that the “probative value in the 

1981 case, and in the 1989 case far outweigh the 

 
2 Stearns was charged with first-degree felony murder 
based on first- and second-degree rape with a special 
allegation of sexual motivation.  CP 1-6. 
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prejudicial effect assuming there will be a limiting 

instruction given to the jury.”  2RP 152.  The trial court 

instructed the jury as to the limited purposes for which this 

evidence had been admitted, both when B.G. and D.H. 

testified and at the conclusion of the case.  CP 369; 2RP 

2157, 2182-83.  The limiting instruction given at the end 

of the case read, in part, as follows: 

This evidence may be considered by you only 
for the purpose of whether the defendant’s 
prior conduct establishes a common scheme 
or plan, or to establish forcible compulsion, 
with respect to conduct charged by the State 
in this case.  You may not consider it for any 
other purpose.  Any discussion of the 
evidence during your deliberations must be 
consistent with this limitation. 

 
CP 369. 

 After the first trial resulted in a hung jury, a second 

jury convicted Stearns of first-degree murder with sexual 

motivation as charged.  CP 373-74.  Stearns was found to 

be a persistent offender and sentenced to life in prison 

without the possibility of release.  CP 381-93. 
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 On appeal, Stearns’ first claim of error was that the 

case should be reversed and dismissed due to the delay 

between 2004, when the DNA results were obtained, and 

2017, when the State filed the murder charge.  The Court 

of Appeals agreed with Stearns, but this Court 

unanimously reversed the Court of Appeals, holding that 

Stearns had not demonstrated sufficient prejudice “to 

justify the dismissal of this serious murder case.”  State v. 

Stearns, 2 Wn.3d 869, 873, 545 P.3d 320 (2024). 

Regarding the testimony of B.G. and D.H., this 

Court said: 

 Two prior victims of Stearns’s testified 
that Stearns had violently attacked and 
choked them in a manner consistent with the 
injuries found on Williams’s body.  Stearns 
had attacked both victims in the Central 
District.  Stearns stipulated to the convictions 
arising from both attacks:  rape in the second 
degree and attempted rape in the second 
degree.  The trial court admitted the evidence 
for the limited purpose of establishing a 
common scheme or plan based on Stearns’s 
prior conduct and to establish forcible 
compulsion with respect to Stearns’s charges. 
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Id. at 876 (emphasis added). 

On remand, as will be discussed in detail below, the 

Court of Appeals once again reversed Stearns’ conviction 

on grounds that the trial court erred in admitting B.G.’s 

and D.H.’s testimony under ER 404(b).  See Slip op. 

 

F. ARGUMENT 

1. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW 
BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS 
DISREGARDED THIS COURT’S 
PRECEDENT. 

 
In reversing Stearns’ first-degree murder conviction 

a second time, the Court of Appeals expressly stated that 

it purposely disregarded decisions of this Court about ER 

404(b) where the victims were children, even though the 

standards for admissibility under ER 404(b) do not 

change based on a victim’s age or any other 

demographic.  The Court of Appeals’ disregard of 
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precedent overtly conflicts with this Court’s precedent and 

does not follow in logic.  Review should be granted. 

Under ER 404(b), 

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or 
acts is not admissible to prove the character 
of a person in order to show action in 
conformity therewith.  It may, however, be 
admissible for other purposes, such as proof 
of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, 
plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of 
mistake or accident. 

 
The test for admissibility under ER 404(b) is long-

standing and well-established.  Specifically, admitting 

evidence under this rule involves four steps, wherein the 

trial court must:  (1) find by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the incidents occurred; (2) identify the 

purpose for which the evidence is offered; (3) determine 

whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of 

the crime or rebut a defense; and (4) weigh the probative 

value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect.  State 

v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 P.3d 119 (2003). 
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Proving a common scheme or plan is a proper 

purpose for admitting evidence under ER 404(b).  

DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d at 17.  When evidence is offered 

as proof of a common scheme or plan, a unique or 

unusual modus operandi is not required; rather, “the prior 

bad acts [must] be similar enough to be naturally 

explained as individual manifestations of an identifiable 

plan.”  Id. at 18.  In addition, ER 404(b) evidence may 

also be admitted as proof of an essential element of the 

crime charged if the evidence is material and relevant to 

that element.  State v. Ashley, 186 Wn.2d 32, 42, 375 

P.3d 673 (2016).  In a case involving sexual assault, 

proving forcible compulsion and disproving consent is an 

example of when ER 404(b) evidence may be admitted as 

proof of an essential element and as rebuttal to a 

defense.  State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 571, 940 P.2d 

546 (1997).  Importantly, there are no cases holding that 

these well-settled principles are different depending on 
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the demographics of the victims chosen by a particular 

defendant. 

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals posited that 

there were “two general categories of ER 404(b) cases 

relied on by the parties”:  (1) cases involving sexual 

assaults committed against adults, and (2) cases 

involving sexual assaults committed against children.  Slip 

op. at 12.  The court then made the following statement: 

The latter type of cases offered in briefing, 
child sex offenses, are sufficiently factually 
distinct as to be inapposite here, thus, we do 
not consider them further on the question. 

 
Slip op. at 13.  The court then considered four cases with 

adult victims,3 found highly fact-specific ways to 

 
3 After limiting its consideration to only four cases 
involving adult sexual assault victims, the court 
considered State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 853 P.2d 487 
(1995), State v. Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 168 P.3d 359 
(2007), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Gregory, 
192 Wn.2d 1, 427 P.3d 621 (2018), State v. Brown, 132 
Wn.2d 529, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), and State v. Williams, 
156 Wn. App. 482, 234 P.3d 1174 (2010). 
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distinguish each one from Stearns’ case, and summarily 

concluded that the trial court erred.  Slip op. at 13-16.  

This analysis of ER 404(b) was contorted and simply 

wrong. 

 This Court has never suggested in any past 

decision that its precedent on ER 404(b) should be 

disregarded or limited for consideration based on the type 

of victim a defendant chooses.  In fact, no other decision 

from the Court of Appeals endorses disregarding 

precedent in this manner, either.  The test for admissibility 

under ER 404(b) is the same, regardless of the type of 

victim, or even the type of crime the defendant commits.  

See, e.g., State v. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d 609, 627-28, 801 

P.2d 193 (1990) (burglary, felony murder based on 

burglary); State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 172-73, 

163 P.3d 786 (2007) (malicious mischief); Ashley, 186 

Wn.2d at 42 (unlawful imprisonment, domestic violence). 
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Moreover, on a more basic level, the Court of 

Appeals’ choice to disregard cases because they involved 

“child sexual assault” does not make sense in logic.  The 

consideration of whether a defendant’s prior acts 

constituted a “common scheme or plan” does not turn on 

how old the victims were, but what the defendant did.  

The age of the victims says nothing about whether the 

defendant engaged in repeated, markedly similar actions 

that could be reasonably attributed to a scheme or plan. 

As such, the parties at trial and the trial court 

properly relied on cases from this Court involving victims 

of all ages, including DeVincentis, supra, State v. 

Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 421-23, 269 P.3d 207 (2012), 

and others.  See, e.g., CP 609-15.  But the Court of 

Appeals purposefully disregarded those cases relied upon 

by the parties and the trial court based on an irrelevant 

demographic distinction in order to conclude that the trial 

court erred. 
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The Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with 

important decisions of this Court, and review should be 

granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1). 

 

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS MISAPPLIED A 
DE NOVO STANDARD OF REVIEW 
RATHER THAN THE PROPER ABUSE-OF-
DISCRETION STANDARD. 

 
In addition to disregarding precedent based on the 

age of the victims, the Court of Appeals applied a de novo 

standard of review rather than the abuse-of-discretion 

standard that applies to evidentiary rulings.  This 

misapplication of law also conflicts with this Court’s 

precedent. 

It is well-settled that a trial court’s evidentiary rulings 

are reviewed only for manifest abuse of discretion.  State 

v. Jennings, 199 Wn.2d 53, 59, 502 P.3d 1255 (2022).  

The abuse of discretion standard is deferential to the trial 

court.  State v. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d 229, 240, 937 P.2d 
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587 (1997).  A reviewing court will find an abuse of 

discretion only if no reasonable person would have ruled 

as the trial court did.  State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d 904, 

914, 16 P.3d 626 (2001).  On the other hand, “[a] 

reviewing court may not find abuse of discretion simply 

because it would have decided the case differently,” and 

again, must be convinced that no reasonable judge would 

have made the same decision before reversing a 

conviction.  State v. Salgado-Mendoza, 189 Wn.2d 420, 

427, 403 P.3d 45 (2017).  These well-established and 

deferential standards apply to a trial court’s rulings under 

ER 404(b).  DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d at 17. 

In this case, the Court of Appeals emphasized that 

“questions of law, such as the interpretation of evidence 

rules,” are reviewed de novo, citing Foxhoven, 151 Wn.2d 

at 174.  Slip op. at 5.  Although the appellate court 

observed that the trial court’s “admissibility ruling” is 

reviewed for abuse of discretion, the court stated that 



 
 
2502-13 Stearns SupCt 

- 22 - 

applies only if the trial court “has interpreted the rule 

correctly . . . .”  Id.  The court then held that the trial court 

had misapplied the law and had interpreted the law 

incorrectly.  Slip op. at 10.  Specifically, the court stated 

that the trial court’s rulings admitting Stearns’ attacks on 

B.G. and D.H. “exceed the scope of common scheme or 

plan as established by case law.”  Slip op. at 17. 

Although the court later mentioned the abuse-of-

discretion standard in passing,4 the court’s entire analysis 

consists of painstakingly cataloguing its disagreements 

with the trial court, and substituting its own judgment for 

that of the trial court.  Slip op. at 10-22.  As will be 

discussed in the next section, there is no evidence in the 

opinion of any deference afforded to the trial court.  The 

lower court engaged in quintessentially de novo review, 

which is inconsistent with all precedent concerning 

 
4 See Slip op. at 20. 
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ER 404(b).  This Court should grant review for this reason 

as well. 

 

3. UNDER THE CORRECT STANDARD OF 
REVIEW, THE TRIAL COURT’S RULING IS 
WELL WITHIN THE BROAD DISCRETION 
APPLICABLE TO EVIDENTIARY RULINGS. 

As stated above, the Court of Appeals’ decision 

catalogued its disagreements with the trial court’s 

decision in detail.  Indeed, the appellate court appears to 

have taken great care to mention nearly every possible 

factual difference between Stearns’ attacks on B.G. and 

D.H., and every possible factual difference between those 

attacks and Williams’ murder, while disregarding the 

marked similarities.  See Slip op. at 11-21.  In doing so, 

the lower court inserted itself into the trial court’s role.  But 

that is not the role of the reviewing court.  When viewed 

through the appropriate lens of deference, the trial court’s 

ruling was within its sound discretion and should have 

been affirmed. 
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As stated above, the State’s reasons for seeking to 

admit the three prior attacks under ER 404(b) was to 

show a common scheme or plan, and to prove the 

essential element of forcible compulsion while disproving 

consent.  CP 607-25.  As to the common scheme or plan, 

the State noted that all of Stearns’ crimes were very 

similar in that he (1) incapacitated his victims, specifically 

with blows to the head, (2) strangled them, (3) penetrated 

them vaginally (or attempted to do so), and (4) robbed 

them (or left evidence strongly suggesting robbery) after 

the physical and sexual assaults were completed.  CP 

615-17.  And crucially, all of Stearns’ crimes were

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