FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/19/2025 4:05 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 103908-5 (Court of Appeals No. 82125-3-I)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

JOHN STEARNS,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DEVON KNOWLES Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711 devon@washapp.org

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

The trial court granted the State's motion, admitting evidence relating to the 1981 and 1989 incidents to show a common scheme and plan, to establish forcible compulsion, and to rebut the defense of consent. 1/15/20RP 149-50. The court disagreed with defense counsel that a limiting instruction could not cure the prejudice under the fourth prong of ER 404(b). The court explained that, as compared to other counties, jurors in King County are particularly careful, skeptical of police and prosecutors, and would follow the instructions. 1/15/20RP 152.

In reversing Mr. Stearns' conviction, the Court of Appeals extensively detailed the pretrial litigation and trial court's findings regarding the prior bad acts. Slip. Op. at 7-10. The

5

Court of Appeals also considered cases involving adult victims because those were the most analogous to Mr. Stearns' case. Slip Op. at 12-21. Based on this analysis, the court concluded the trial court abused its discretion because the prior bad acts were "simply too tenuous to constitute a common scheme or plan." Slip Op. at 20. Additionally, the trial court abused its discretion by relying on anecdotal experiences regarding King County jurors when balancing the probative value against the prejudice effect under the fourth prong of ER 404(b).³ Slip Op. at 21-22.

D. <u>REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW</u>

1. The Court of Appeals rightly relied on cases that are factually analogous to Mr. Stearns' case.

The State utterly misrepresents the Court of Appeals'

opinion as creating a separate evidentiary rule for cases

³ Before admitting prior bad acts under ER 404(b), the trial court must: (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the prior act occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is offered, (3) decide whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged, and (4) determine whether the evidence would be substantially more prejudicial than probative. *State v. Slocum*, 183 Wn. App. 438, 448, 333 P.3d 541 (2014).

involving children. Pet. at 14-15. Contrary to the State's argument, the Court of Appeals did not "expressly state[] that it [was] purposely disregarding decisions of this Court about ER 404(b) where the victims were children[.]" Pet. at 14. Nor did the Court of Appeals suggest that different standards of admissibility apply based on a victim's age. Pet. at 14.

Rather, the Court of Appeals laid out the correct ER 404(b) analysis and then identified that there were two general categories of cases "relied upon by the parties." Slip Op. at 12. The court explained that the cases "offered in briefing" involving child sex offenses "are sufficiently factually distinct as to be inapposite here." Slip Op. at 12 (emphasis added). In a lengthy footnote, the court clearly identified the factual differences: unlike the facts in Mr. Stearns' case, the child sex offense cases cited by the parties involved a close relationship between the perpetrator and the victim, such as family members or neighbors, and involved grooming inasmuch as the plans were effectuated over months or years. Slip Op. at 12-13 n. 4. The Court of Appeals reiterated that cases involving sexual

violence against adults "are more **factually similar** to Stearns' past activities and those alleged in this case." Slip Op. at 13 (emphasis added).⁴

The Court of Appeals opinion is not "in conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(1). Indeed, the Court of Appeals adopted the exact approach used by this Court in reviewing ER 404(b) rulings. *See State v. Lough*, 125 Wn.2d 847, 856, 889 P.2d 487 (1995) ("Since the result in these kinds of cases will be largely dependent on the facts of each case, it is helpful to look at some of the cases where evidence of prior misconduct to prove a plan has been held admissible."); *see also State v. Thang*, 145 Wn.2d 630, 643-44, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002) (analyzing admission of prior bad acts by looking to facts of other cases).

⁴ The State wrongly argues that age is "an irrelevant demographic distinction" when considering whether the defendant acted according to a common scheme or plan. Pet. at 19. For example, in *State v. Williams*, the court concluded prior bad acts were admissible as part of a common scheme or plan due to, *inter alia*, the similar age of the victims. 156 Wn. App. at 491.

If anything, the Court of Appeals honored precedent by basing its analysis on only those cases it deemed factually analogous. *See State v. Mecham*, 186 Wn.2d 128, 141, 380 P.3d 414 (2016) (when considering privacy interest, court should consider analogous case law). This Court should deny review.

2. The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review to conclude the trial court erred in admitting prior bad acts under ER 404(b).

The State concedes that the Court of Appeals correctly identified the applicable standards of review. *See* Pet. at 20-21. Yet the State now claims the court did not apply those standards. Pet. at 2. The State's petition, however, simply regurgitates old arguments about why the evidence was admissible. Pet. at 23-27. While the State may disagree with the Court of Appeals' conclusion, there is no basis to believe the court applied the wrong legal standard. The State is simply grasping at straws in an effort to paint the court's decision as "conflicting" with decisions by this Court.

First, the State faults the Court of Appeals for "painstakingly" going through the record to explain how the trial court erred. *See* Pet. at 23. But, if anything, the court's detailed summary of the trial court's findings shows the requisite deference. Slip Op. at 4-10. A *de novo* review of admissibility would not require the court to consider the trial court's opinion at all.

Second, the Court of Appeals did not simply "mention[] the abuse-of-discretion standard in passing." Pet. at 22. The court expressly relied on this Court's holdings in *State v*. *Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d 168, 163 P.3d 786 (2007) and *State v*. *Hudson*, 150 Wn. App. 646, 208 P.3d 1236 (2009)) to lay out the applicable standards of review.⁵ The Court of Appeals then concluded the trial court "abused its discretion" when it improperly considered personal experience as a visiting judge in other counties as part of its ER 404(b) analysis. Slip Op. at 21.

⁵ Namely, a trial court's interpretation of an evidentiary rule is reviewed *de novo*. Slip Op. at 5 (citing *Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d at 174). Where a trial court correctly interprets the rule, the court's evidentiary ruling is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Slip Op. at 5 (citing *Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d at 174). A trial court abuses its discretion where its decision "is manifestly unreasonable or exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons." Slip Op. at 5 (quoting *Hudson*, 150 Wn. App. at 652).

Specifically, the trial court made an "untenable ruling that rested on untenable grounds" when it determined jurors in King County are more likely to listen to jury instructions because–as compared to jurors "in other counties,"–King County jurors are "exceptionally careful," "a very fair population," "are not big fans of the police," "are not big fans of the prosecutor's office," and are "quick to hold the State accountable." Slip Op. at 21.

The trial court's reliance on the disposition of King County jurors were not offhand, but in direct response to defense counsel's arguments that, even with a limiting instruction, the evidence was more prejudicial than probative. 1/15/19RP 139. As the Court of Appeals explained, "[t]here is nothing in our state's evidence rules or jurisprudence that allows the application of a county-by-county standard with regard to the admission of prejudicial evidence." Slip Op. at 22.

Third, after extensively cataloguing the trial court's reasoning, the Court of Appeals correctly considered whether the trial court abused its discretion by admitting prior bad acts. Slip Op. at 6, 13 (citing *State v. DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d 11, 19,

11

74 P.3d 119 (2003)). The Court of Appeals directly compared

the facts in Mr. Stearns' case with the facts in Lough,⁶ Yates,⁷

Williams,⁸ and *Brown*⁹:

The B.G. and D.H. cases are sufficiently distinct from each other, and from the facts of the case involving Williams, such that they exceed the scope of common scheme or plan as established by case law. In Lough, Yates, and Williams, each defendant's initial contact with the various victims showed much greater consistency. Lough's victims had all been involved in dating relationships with him when he drugged and raped them. Lough, 125 Wn.2d at 849-52. Yates' victims were all White or light-skinned sex workers who he lured into his vehicle. Yates, 161 Wn.2d at 753. Finally, Division Three of this court described Williams' victims as "women of a similar age, involved with drugs" who were attacked from behind after Williams promised them drugs. Williams, 156 Wn. App. at 491.

The victims associated with Stearns are of different ages and races with lifestyles significantly dissimilar from each other. B.G. was 20 years old, White, and unemployed. D.H. was 41 years old, White, and worked downtown at an insurance company. Williams was Black, 33 years old, and a sex worker. Further, none of the women associated with Stearns in these cases were approached in the

⁶ State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 889 P.2d 487 (1995).

⁷ State v. Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 168 P.3d 359 (2007), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Gregory, 192 Wn.2d 1, 427 P.3d 621 (2018).

⁸ State v. Williams, 156 Wn. App. 482, 234 P.3d (2010)

⁹ State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 940 P.2d546 (1997).

same way as any other and their respective relationships with Stearns were markedly distinct. B.G. knew Stearns, who was 19 years old at the time of the attack, through her brother and testified that she had rejected Stearns' advances in the past. D.H. was a stranger and over a decade older than Stearns when he assaulted her. The record is silent on any possible prior relationship between Stearns and Williams other than a sexual encounter shortly before her death.

Slip Op. at 17.¹⁰

While an abuse of discretion standard "provides great deference to the trial court's evidentiary rulings, it does not immunize them." *State v. Broussard*, 25 Wn. App. 2d 781, 789, 55 P.3d 615 (2023). The Court of Appeals did exactly what a reviewing court should do: lay out the facts in front of the trial court and the applicable law, and then look at analogous cases to determine whether the trial court erred. After this careful analysis, the Court of Appeals concluded the trial court "abused its discretion" because the acts "exceeded the scope of common scheme or plan as established by case law." Slip Op. at 17. In other words, the trial court's ruling was unreasonable because

¹⁰ This Court need only look at the attached Appendix to see how vastly different the offenses are.

the bad acts were "simply too tenuous constitute a common scheme or plan." Slip Op. at 20.

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with the decisions of this Court and does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

3. The Court of Appeals did not make a "false assumption" in noting that many sexual assaults involve violence.

The State asks this Court to accept review because sexual assaults involving striking or strangulation are not as common the Court of Appeals would assume. *See* Pet. at 28. To show the Court of Appeals relied upon "false assumptions," the State cites to 2023 statistics from the FBI's National Incident-Based Reporting System (NIBRS). Pet. at 29. It is unclear what search function the State used and the numbers vary greatly.¹¹ For

¹¹ The database can be searched via dropdown menu by crime, state, local jurisdiction, and timeframe. Undersigned counsel was not able to replicate the numbers included in the State's petition. There is no general "sex offense" category of crime. However, when counsel selected "rape," for the year 2023, it reveals that 52% of rapes nation-wide included use of a "personal weapon," and 53% of rapes in Washington State in 2023 included the use of a "personal weapon."

2023–the year cited by the State–a "**personal weapon**" was used in **53% of all rapes**."¹² FBI Crime Data Explorer, <u>https://cde.ucr.cjis.gov/LATEST/webapp/#/pages/expl</u> <u>orer/crime/crime-trend (last visited 3/17/25)</u>. Many of the offenses are "linked" to other violent crimes, including aggravated assault, sexual assault with an object, burglary, criminal sexual contact, and sodomy. *Id*.

The State's argument that the overwhelming majority of rapes are "**committed with no weapons or force at all**" is deeply disturbing. Pet. at 29 (emphasis added). It not only misrepresents the data but erases the trauma experienced by sexual assault victims.

Regardless, the Court of Appeals did not err in its observation that many sexual assaults involve striking or

https://cde.ucr.cjis.gov/LATEST/webapp/#/pages/explorer/crime/crime-trend.

¹² The State's petition isolates "blunt object" as the type of weapon used. Yet the objects (or lack thereof) involved in the three offenses at issue were different. B.G. was hit with a whisky bottle. Slip Op. at 11. There is no evidence that any weapon was used in the assault involving D.H. Slip Op. at 12 n. 2. Meanwhile, Ms. Williams was pushed against a concrete wall.

choking the victim. The Court explained that striking or choking were not sufficiently unique because they occurred in "several of the case cited as authority by the parties," including *Williams*, *Yates*, *Brown*, and *Lough*. The Court's assessment was based on case law, common sense, and is not a "demonstrably false assumption." Pet. at 28.

Finally, the State argues that reversal should not be based on the "innocuous" comment by the prosecutor assigned to the case that he consulted his appellate unit to determine whether and how the prior bad acts could be used at trial. Pet. at 29-30. The State goes so far as to claim the Court of Appeals' reliance on Mr. Baird's testimony is "frankly baffling." Pet. at 31. This argument is disingenuous at best.

First, in its petition, the State only quotes one sentence in the opinion while omitting the second sentence where the prosecutor testified he did not think the case should even be filed without considering the admissibility of the other acts evidence. Slip Op. at 23. Second, the State completely omits the context of the Court of Appeals' reliance on the prosecutor's statement.

16

Specifically, the court referenced the prosecutor's testimony in considering whether the trial court's error was harmless. Slip Op. at 22-24. In addition to pointing out the State's reliance on the prior bad acts at trial, the Court of Appeals was absolutely correct that the prosecutor's consultation with his appellate unit because he was unsure he could secure a conviction without the prior bad acts is relevant to how critical (and thus prejudicial) the evidence was. *See* Slip Op. at 22-24.

Tellingly, the State does not argue any error was harmless. Instead, it resorts to telling only part of the story in an effort to convince this Court the prosecutor's statement was "innocuous."

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with this Court's precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1). This Court should deny review.

E. <u>IF THIS COURT ACCEPTS REVIEW, IT SHOULD</u> <u>ALSO REVIEW THE COURT OF APPEALS'</u> <u>DECISION THAT THE REMAINING TRIAL ERRORS</u> <u>WERE HARMLESS.</u>

After remand by this Court, the Court of Appeals considered not only the trial court's evidentiary ruling, but also Mr. Stearns' remaining assignments of error. Slip Op. at 24-29. The court found (1) the trial court erred in advising the jurors they could "tune out" during oral jury instructions and (2) the prosecutor committed misconduct by appealing to the passion and prejudice of the jury during closing argument. Slip Op. at 26, 29. However, the Court of Appeals found the errors did not require a new trial. Slip Op. at 26, 29.

If this Court accepts review in Mr. Stearns' case, it should also consider whether the Court of Appeals mistakenly concluded the remaining errors were harmless. *See State v. Magana-Arevalo*, No. 103586-1 (March 17, 2025) (granting review to determine, *inter alia*, whether potential *Miranda* violation was harmless); *State v. Wasuge*, No. 103530-6 (February 7, 2025), (granting review to determine, *inter alia*, whether admission of inadmissible testimony in physical control of a motor vehicle case is subject to constitutional harmless error review).

F. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's

precedent to the facts in Mr. Stearns' case. Review is not

warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).